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INTRODUCTION
The excavations in the Haapsalu Gallows Hill were held as part of the study of the
Estonian execution sites (Malve et al. 2013). Little was previously known about the
gallows — it was opened more than 80 years ago (Ladne Elu 1932a; 1932b; Posti-
mees 1932) and only some of the material has been published so far (Jaago 2011,
31). The purpose of the current excavations was to determine if the cultural layer
had been preserved (e. g. human remains, structures) and when the gallows was
erected.

The Haapsalu Gallows Hill is situated ca 1.2 km south-east from the medieval and
early modern town, between the roads to Lihula and Tallinn. The execution site was in
the middle of the town’s meadows and pastures and could be seen from far away. Thus,
the gallows with the executed people served as a warning to everyone. Today, only a 2 m
high and 16 m wide mound overgrown with grass has remained.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

The legal system of Haapsalu in Medieval and Early Modern Times
The Haapsalu Gallows Hill presumably existed already during Medieval Times, al-
though so far no documents can confirm this. In Germany, fixed execution sites de-
veloped in the 13th — 15th centuries, and along with them the profession of the ex-
ecutioner. In Medieval Livonia (comprising modern Estonia and Latvia), a similar
development took place (Jeziorski 2007).
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Compared to the legal systems in large Livonian towns such as Tallinn, the juris-
diction in Haapsalu was tightly under the control of its lord, the Bishop of Osel-Wiek
(Kala 1998a). The autonomy of Haapsalu increased during and after the 14th century
(LUB 3, No. MCCCXCVIII), but the lord still had authority through the participation
of the Drost (administrator of the castle) in the legal decisions of the town council (Kala
1998b; Poltsam 1998). In Haapsalu, the Gallows Hill was situated inside the borders of
the town jurisdiction (Germ. Stadtmark), on the pasture that was in joint possession of
the citizens of Haapsalu, the bishop, and the canons (LUB 1, No. CDLXI).

It is unclear if there was a professional executioner in Medieval Haapsalu. Small-
er towns often obtained professional hangmen only in the Early Modern Times (Schu-
bert 2007, 68-69). In Haapsalu, the first documentation of an executioner dates from
1566 (SRA, Balt. Fogderik. 376-1566-67).

Haapsalu managed to retain its town rights during the 17th and 18th centuries,
when many Estonian towns lost that status (King et al. 2013, 344; Laur et al. 2003,
78). However, Haapsalu lacked independent decision-making capacity in criminal mat-
ters (including executions), especially in the middle of the 17th century when Haapsalu
belonged to De la Gardie family (Soom 1995, 143-145; Jaago 2004).

The Gallows Hill of Haapsalu
The Haapsalu gallows may be compared to the ones in Tallinn and Tartu which are
both known to have stone foundations (Lavi 1995, fig. 2; Renner 1953, 17). It is how-
ever unknown when these Estonian execution sites were erected. In the Holy Roman
Empire, gallows hills with stone foundations appeared in the beginning of the 14th
century (Schubert 2007, 68). According to the latest archaeological finds, the Haap-
salu gallows was in use at least from the 16th century. It is first mentioned in written
records in 1648, when the citizens complained that in 1642 the gallows was moved
from its original location to Lustimdgi (Germ. Freudenberg), where the citizens used
to feast. After this complaint, the gallows was returned to its original location (Jaago
1997, 93; EAA 1239-1-8, page 272p, No. 38).
The site of execution is depicted on several town plans, starting from 1798 (Fig. 1).
In the same year, the site was probably used for the last time: according to the church
metrics, on the 19th of November 1798, a
suicide, a freed peasant Rein of Buxhdove-
den (1749-1798), was buried there (EAA
1239-2-4, page 95). In 1801, the Govern-
ing Senate of Russia demanded to liqui-
date all public execution sites (EAA 30-
1-16309), and according to the protocol of
the town council, the gallows of Haapsalu
were torn down in the same year (EAA
992-1-132, page 51p).
Fig. 1.  The location of Haapsalu Gallows Hill on During the 19th century, a suburb
[, o dating from 1848, of Haapsalu formed around the former
Jn 1. Haapsalu Véllamde asupaik 1848. a kaardil. gibbet that was called Vbllaste, or the
(EAA 854-4-105.) Gallows Hill (Germ. Galgenberg) (Jaago

1 EAA 854-4-109 (1798); EAA 854-4-105 (1848); EAA 854-4-106 (1859).
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1997, 96). For a long time, the suburb had
only one street, Vollaste (later renamed
Mde and Niine); only in the 1950s the
contemporary street network was formed
(ibid.). Allegedly, even in the beginning of
the 20th century, the remains of the gal-
lows were detectable (Lddne Elu 1932a).
According to folk tales, there was also a
torture chamber around the 17th century,
where both criminals and the leaders of
the Estonian rebels were tortured and ex-
ecuted (ibid.).

FIELDWORK IN 1932 AND 2013
Excavations in 1932
In 1932 two skeletons, a round wall, and
some early modern items were found. Lo-
cal ‘gold diggers’ opened the mound, but
after discovering the first skeleton the
Society of Haapsalu Museum took over Fig.2. First (C;Lbz:iv?) clvggzsecond (below) skeleton
the eXf:avatlons. They Were conduCt._ed Jn 2. ?gggréaita;";dlja p.uhastatud esimene (tilal)
by artist Roman Gottfried Haavamaégi ja teine luustik (all).
(until 1937 Espenberg; 1891-1964). The  (HM 2019; HM 2018.)
remains of two males in supine-prone po-
sition were unearthed on the east side of the hill (Fig. 2). The first skeleton was found
in a 1 m deep grave. His cranium, midshafts of the left femur, right tibia, and fibula
had been sawn through. The second skeleton was unearthed 1 m deeper from the first
and was aged 40 to 50 years. Only the vault of the cranium was cut off. A knife was
found on the right part of the chest, together with pieces of a greatcoat, three buttons,
and fragments of hobnailed boots. Several cut-marks were noticed and interpreted as
execution injuries (Ldadne Elu 1932a; 1932; Postimees 1932).

Fieldwork in 2013
Two trenches and the round wall with a probable entrance were opened (Fig. 3). Ad-
ditionally, test-pits were made around the mound to find the place where the executed
were buried. It appears that the cemetery was probably not located nearby.

The polygon-shaped round wall, 10 metres in diameter, was well preserved
(0.5-1 m high, 1 m thick). It was laid of limestone and fastened with mortar (Fig. 4);
also boulders, bricks and roof tiles were used. The gallows was probably surrounded
from every side by a ditch, dug approximately 2 m from the round wall. The gravel
from the ditch was used to fill the centre of the gibbet. In the north-western section
of the round wall a structure of two parallel walls laid from boulders was unearthed
(Fig. 3). It could be a foundation of a 3 m wide entrance. In 1932 and 2013 numerous
boulders and limestones were found, which could have been wedge stones to a gallows
constructions. Interestingly, 0.9 m inside from the round wall a row of posts wedged
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Excavated areas/
Uuritud alad

Foundation of the wall/
Ringmiiiiri vundament

The wall/
Ringmiitir

Wooden construction/
Puitkonstruktsioon

Trench/
Kraav

Fig. 3.  Location plan of the excavated areas of the Haapsalu Gallows Hill in 2013.
Jn 3. 2013. aasta vidlitoode kdigus avatud alade asendiplaan Haapsalu véllamdel.

Drawing / Joonis: Raido Roog

Fig. 4. Opened section from the round wall.
Jn 4. Avatud loik ringmiidirist.
Photo / Foto: Raido Roog

with limestone was encountered (Figs 3;
5). This construction could be part of the
previous wooden gibbet? or belong to an-
other structure (e.g. a gallows tree).

Excavation in the 1930s disturbed
the central part of the mound — coins and
trash from the beginning of the 20th cen-
tury were found even from the bottom.
The excavated soil was sieved and seven
coins® from the 16th century (the oldest
minted in 1536) and the first quarter
of the 17th century were found.* One of
them (HM 9188: 24) had a hole, suggest-
ing it had been used as a pendant. All
coins were most likely deposited when the
gallows was still in use.

Only mixed human bones were un-
covered from the site. Two of the bones — a
parietal bone (Fig. 6) and a fibula — had
saw marks on them. The fibula probably

2 Samples of the wood were collected for radiocarbon dating.

SHM 9188: 1, 4, 14, 17, 22-24.
196 *Coins identified by Mauri Kiudsoo (AI).
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belonged to the first skeleton uncovered
in the 1930s. Osteological analysis of the
bone material preserved from 1932 and
found in 2013 revealed no injuries related
to execution. The removal of the cranial
vault of the men indicates autopsy. Both
crania had been opened in a similar man-
ner, which could be the handwork of the
same surgeon. At that time there were no
standards for craniotomy and every prac-
titioner developed his own method (Con-
nell & Miles 2010, 48). The surgeon who
conducted the procedure was skilled, as
the crania had been opened with single
cuts and the sizes of the removed vaults
were the same. It is unknown why the
autopsy was held — whether to determine
the cause of death or out of anatomical in-
terest.

One of the two skeletons discovered
in 1932 could have belonged to Rein of
Buxhoveden, as according to a remark
in the church metrics he was buried
there after autopsy (Germ. obduction)
(EAA 1239-2-4, page 95). Since autopsies
were usually performed by physicians Woo

. inside the round wall.
and surgeons l'n the 18th century, the Jn 5. Ringmiiiiri seest leitud paekividega kiilutud
performer of this procedure was probably puitkonstruktsioon.
Andreas Friedrich Schiitz who was both  Photo/ Foto: Raido Roog
doctor of the county (Germ. Kreisarzt) and
staff surgeon from 1797 (Brennsohn 1922,
328). Thus, the men found at the Haapsa-
lu gallows hill probably belong to the pe-
riod when performing autopsies became
popular in Europe, i.e. from the 17th to
the 19th centuries. Cadavers were mostly
opened to establish the cause of death
during the Early Modern Times (Waldron
2009, 163). The criminals and suicides
were dissected frequently, and it was of-
ten seen as an additional punishment
(Burton 2005, 280). Burying suicides in Fig. 6. Fragment of a parietal bone with saw cut-
execution sites is not unusual in Estoni'a, I, ?«g;g;kejdlge dega kiiruluu fragment.
e.g., one was placed in Tartu Gallows Hill  gp79188: 44,
in 1649 (Hermann 1977, 488). There are  Photo / Foto: Raido Roog

Fig. 5.  Wooden structure with wedged limestones
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only a few known cases of autopsies found in Estonian archaeological material. In addi-
tion to the skeletons of Haapsalu, there is a female cranium from the choir of the Koeru
St Mary Magdalene Church (Roog & Malve 2013).

CONCLUSIONS
During the fieldwork in 2013 the polygon-shaped limestone round wall and a wooden
construction with unknown purpose were unearthed. Additionally, a probable entrance
and a ditch surrounding the wall were found. Mixed human remains and five coins
from the Early Modern Times were collected from the mound. The bones belong to the
two men found in 1932 and the coins were from the 16th — 17th centuries, possibly
deposited when the site was in use.

The male skeletons, excavated in the 1930s, probably originate from a period when
the gibbet was not in use as an execution site, during the turn of the 18th century. The
skeletons displayed traces of autopsy, including sawn cranial vaults. Unlike in Tallinn
Gallows Hill, the dead and their body parts have not been buried in the execution site
of Haapsalu.

On the basis of the archaeological material found in the gallows, it can be con-
cluded that the site was used already during the 16th century. In the light of current
results it remains unclear whether the gibbet was used in Medieval Times. The Haap-
salu Gallows Hill is currently the only known well-preserved execution site in Estonia.

Acknowledgements: The writing of this paper was supported by the Estonian Research
Council (PUT107) and by the European Union through the European Regional Develop-
ment Fund (Centre of Excellence in Cultural Theory (CECT)). The authors would like to
thank the archaeology students from the University of Tartu who participated in the ex-
cavations: Maarja Olli, Pikne Kama, Ragnar Saage and Elis Tiidu. We would also like
to thank Andres Vindi (TU), Sabrina B. Sholts (National Museum of Natural History,
Smithsonian Institution, USA) and Elina Pétersone-Gordina (University of Durham),
Anton Pdarn (HM), Kalli Pets (MA), and Tonis Tiirna (EAA).

198



REFERENCES
Brennsohn, I. 1922. Die Aerzte Estlands. Riga.
Burton, J. L. 2005. A bite into the history of the
autopsy. From ancient roots to modern decay. —
Forensic Science, Medicine, and Pathology, 1: 4,
277-284.
Conell, B. & Miles, A. 2010. The City Bunhill
burial ground, Golden Lane, London. Excavation at
South Islington schools, 2006. MOLA Archaeology
studies series, 21. London.
EAA 30-1-16309. Akte betreffend den Senatsukas
vom 11. April 1801 tiber die Vernichtung der
offentlichen Galgen. (EAA.)
EAA 854-4-105. Geometrischer Plan der Kreisstadt
Hapsal. Compiled by Johann Heinrich Schmidt,
1848. (Map in EAA.)
EAA 854-4-106. Karte von Hapsal. 1859. (Map in
EAA.)
EAA 854-4-109. [1nan o npuHajijIesKalmx ye3aHoMy
ropopy [ancaio Takxke 0 MpOXKEKTUPOBAHHbBIX B
1788 ropy mmst oTHauM B TOPOACKOE BEOMCTBO OJn3
nexxarmx noMermuskx 3emisix. Compiled by C. F.
Guthardt, 1798. (Map in EAA.)
EAA 992-1-132, page 51p. Rae protokoll.
31.05.1801. (EAA.)
EAA 1239-1-8, page 272p, no. 38. EELK
Haapsalu koguduse kirikuraamatus leiduv
uurimiskomisjoni otsus 7.3.1648. (EAA.)
EAA 1239-2-4, page 95. EELK Haapsalu koguduse
meetrikaraamatu matusesissekanded 1798. a.
(EAA.)
Hermann, U. 1977. Véllamégi Tartus. — Eesti
Loodus, 8, 488-489.
Jaago, K. 1997. Kastininast Uuemaéisani:
Haapsalu eeslinnadest. — Ladnemaa Muuseumi
toimetised, 1, 83-101.
Jaago, K. 2004. Magnus Gabriel De la Gardiest
ja tema seostest Eestiga. — Lddnemaa Muuseumi
toimetised, 8, 37-45.
Jaago, K. 2011. Haapsalu vanimad matusekohad.
Ladnemaa matusepaigad 1228-1772. — Ladnemaa
kalmistud, I. Uldosa. Kullamaa kihelkonna
kalmistud. Compiled by L. Tarang; ed. by
S. Tarang. Kullamaa, 30-32.
Kala, T. 1998a. Tallinna ja Haapsalu keskaegse
oiguskorra vordlemisest linnadiguse alusel. —
Laanemaa Muuseumi toimetised, 2, 7—14.
Kala, T. 1998b. 1294. a. Haapsalu linnadigus. —
Laanemaa Muuseumi toimetised, 2, 15-25.
Kiing, E., Laidre, M., Leimus, 1., Poldvee, A.,
Selart, A., Seppel, M., Tafenau, K., Tarkiainen,
U. & Tarvel, E. 2013. Eesti ajalugu III. Vene-
Liivimaa s6jast Pohjasgjani. Ed. by E. Kiing, co-ed.
by M. Seppel. Tartu.

THE HAAPSALU GALLOWS HILL

Laur, M., Tannberg, T. & Piirimae, H. 2003.
Eesti ajalugu IV. Pohjasgjast parisorjuse
kaotamiseni. Ed. by S. Vahtre, Ed.-in-chief

M. Laur. Tartu.

Lavi, A. 1995. Tallinner Véllamégi (Galgenberg) —
Die mittelalterliche Hinrichtungsstétte. — TATU,
44, 4, 442-447.

LUB 1 = Liv-, Esth- und Curlédndisches
Urkundenbuch nebst Regesten. Erster Band,
1093-1300. Hrsg. von F. G. von Bunge. Reval, 1853.
LUB 3 = Liv-, Esth- und Curlédndisches
Urkundenbuch nebst Regesten. Dritter Band,

I. Nachtriage zu den zwei ersten Banden. II.
Fortsetzung von 1368-1393. Hrsg. von F. G. von
Bunge. Reval, 1857.

Laane Elu 1932a = Kullaotsija leidis piinatu
luukere. Labisaetud litkmetega inimluud
Wollasteméiel. — Ladne Elu, 22.06.1932.

Laane Elu 1932b = Luukerel oli puss rinnus.
Uued leiud ja kaewamised Wollastemaéel. — Lasne
Elu, 25.06.1932.

Malve, M., Kiviriiiit, A., Roog, R., Maasing, M.
& Warmlander, S. K. T. S. 2013. Archaeological
pilot study of the gallows hill in Tartu. — AVE,
2012, 207-216.

Postimees 1932 = Luukereleid Haapsalu kiilje alt.
— Postimees, 19.06.1932.

Poltsam, 1. 1998. Linn nagu keskaja Haapsalu. —
Laanemaa Muuseumi toimetised, 2, 26—35.
Renner, J. 1953. Livlandische Historien, 1556—
1561. Hrsg. von P. Karstedt. Liibeck.

Roog, R. & Malve, M. 2013. Aruanne
arheoloogilistest uuringutest Koeru kirikus seoses
kooriruumi pérandavahetusega juunis-juulis 2013.
(Manuscript in MA.)

Soom, A. 1995. Jooni Haapsalu ajaloost 17.
sajandil. — A. Soom, Méilestusi. Artikleid. Tartu,
143-162.

Schubert, E. 2007. Rauber, Henker, arme Stinder:
Verbrechen und Strafe im Mittelalter. Darmstadt.
SRA, Balt. Fogderik. 376. Haapsalu linnuse
arveraamatud. 1566-1567. (SRA.)

Waldron, T. 2009. Palaeopathology. Cambridge
Manuals in Archaeology. Cambridge.

199



ARCHAEOLOGICAL FIELDWORK IN ESTONIA 2013, 193—-200

HAAPSALU VOLLAMAGI
Martin Malve, Liivi Varul, Raido Roog, Madis Maasing, Sebastian K. T. S. Warmldnder ja Kalev Jaago

Haapsalu vollaméde uuringute eesmérk oli vélja selgitada, kas méel on sailinud hukkamisega seostatavat
kultuurkihti — inimluid ja rajatisi — ning mis ajast need voiksid parineda. Vollamégi asus kesk- ja varauus-
aegsest Haapsalu linnast linnulennult 1,2 km kaugusel, Tallinna ja Lihula maanteede vahel. Praeguseks on
paigast séilinud u 2 m kérgune ja u 16 m ldbimééduga kiingas.

Kuigi v6ib eeldada, et vollamégi eksisteeris Haapsalus juba keskajal, pole selle kohta kindlat teavet.
Vastavalt viimaste kaevamiste leidudele kasutati hukkamiskohta hiljemalt 16. sajandi I poolest. Endist
timukat on Haapsalus mainitud 1566. aastal, ent vollast on esimest korda kirjalikult nimetatud alles 1648.
aastal ning see likvideeriti 1801. aastal. Vollaméage kujutatakse 18.—19. sajandi linnaplaanidel (jn 1).

1932. aasta valjakaevamistel puhastati vilja kaks mehematust (jn 2). Mélema luustiku koljud olid 14bi
saetud, esimesel ka vasaku reieluu keskosa ja parem sdére- ja pindluu. 2013. aasta uuringutel rajati kiin-
kale kaks kaevandit ja avati ringmiitir (jn 3). V6lla hulknurkne kiimnemeetrine ringmiiiir oli sdilinud kogu
pikkuses 0,5-1 m korgusena ja 1 m paksuselt. Miir oli laotud moérdiga seotud paekividest, lisaks oli kasu-
tatud maa-, tellis- ja katusekive. Ringmiiiiri imber, u 2 m kaugusel, paiknes kraav, millest voetud kruusa
oli kasutatud vollakoha stidamiku taitmiseks. Ringmuitri loodeosas leiti kaks paralleelset mutri, mis olid
laotud maakividest (jn 4). Tegemist vois olla vollale viiva tee alusega, mille laius oli u 3 m. Huvitav leid oli
ringmutrist 0,9 m seespool asunud kividega kiilutud puististe postide rida (jn 3; 5), mis vois olla osa kivivol-
lale eelnenud puust hukkamispaigast v6i monest teisest konstruktsioonist.

Kaevamiste kaigus leiti seitse 16. sajandil ja 17. sajandi I veerandil vermitud miinti, mis parinevad
toendoliselt hukkamispaiga kasutamisajast. Koguti ka segatud inimluid, mille analiitisi kdigus tuvastati
kahel Iuul sae 16ikejaljed — oimuluul (jn 6) ja pindluul, viimane parineb téenéoliselt juba 1930ndatel valja
kaevatud esimeselt luustikult. 1932. ja 2013. aastal leitud luudel hukkamisele viitavaid vigastusi ei esine:
neil olid lahkamise tunnused. Uks leitud luustikest vdis kuuluda 1798. aastal enesetapu sooritanud Buxhé-
vedeni Reinule, keda lahati enne vollaméele matmist. Haapsalu vollamégi on seni Eestis ainuke kindlalt
teadaolev kesk- ja varauusaegne hukkamispaik, mis on ka praeguseni séilinud.
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